IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC08-884

KURT S. BROWNING in his capacity as the SECRETARY
OF STATE and head of the DEPARTMENT OF STATE; and
the STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF STATE,
DIVISION OF ELECTIONS; and SAVE OUR CONSTITUTION, INC.,

Appellants,

v.

FLORIDA HOMETOWN DEMOCRACY, INC. PAC, and LESLEY G. BLACKNER,

Appellees.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

On Appeal from a Decision of the First District Court of Appeal Case No. 1D07-6024

Lynn C. Hearn General Counsel Florida Department of State R.A. Gray Building 500 South Bronough Street Tallahassee, FL 32399 (850) 245-6536 (850) 245-6127 (fax) BILL MCCOLLUM
Attorney General
Scott D. Makar (FBN 709697)
Solicitor General

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal arises from the First District's reversal of a trial court's ruling that a statute empowering electors to revoke their own signatures on petition forms for proposed constitutional amendments is constitutionally permissible. Fla.

Hometown Democracy, Inc. PAC v. Browning, 980 So. 2d 547 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008) (Tab A1). The First District concluded that section 100.371, Florida Statutes, and its related administrative rules (the "Revocation Provisions"), are unnecessary for "ballot integrity" and thereby unconstitutional under article XI, section 3, which provides that the power to propose revisions or amendments to the constitution "is reserved to the people." Id. at 550.

The First District based its ruling on article XI, section 3 and two of this Court's ballot integrity cases. It mentioned neither the fraud in the signature-gathering process that motivated the legislature's enactment of section 100.371 nor this Court's decision in Krivanek v. Take Back Tampa Political Comm., 625 So. 2d 840, 843 (Fla. 1993), which held that the right to petition may be subject to reasonable regulations that are necessary "to ensure ballot integrity and a valid election process." It mentioned nothing about the political power of the people to control their own signatures' use in the petition process. Appellants, Secretary of State Kurt S. Browning and the State of Florida, Department of State, Division of Elections (collectively the "State"), seek reversal of the First District's decision.

Protecting the Signature Gathering Process and Ballot Integrity

The signature gathering process is a critical element of the initiative process that can be compromised if fraud or other methods of deception or dishonesty are allowed to undermine the electorate's confidence in this exercise of their political power. The power to propose a revision or amendment to the constitution via initiative, as set forth in article XI, section 3, is reflective of the fact that "[a]ll political power is inherent in the people" under article I, section 1.

The duty to protect this exercise of political power and the initiative process, thereby ensuring that the will of the voters prevails, resides with both the Florida Legislature and the Secretary of State. See State ex rel. Citizens Proposition for Tax Relief v. Firestone, 386 So. 2d 561, 566-567 (Fla. 1980) ("the legislature, in its legislative capacity, and the secretary of state, in his executive capacity, have the duty and obligation to ensure ballot integrity and a valid election process."). In exercising this duty, the legislature was presented in its 2007 general session with numerous reports of fraud in the signature gathering process that occurred during the 2004 election cycle, resulting in two bills addressing the topic of signature revocation. Fla. CS for SB 900 (2007); Fla. HB 7009 (2007). The concern underlying each of the proposed bills was that the people's right to exercise their political power, including the power to control whether their petition signatures are to be counted, should be protected from fraud or other irregularities in the

signature gathering process. As stated in the legislative history of Senate Bill 900:

During the 2004 election cycle, numerous stories appeared in newspapers concerning fraud in the petition process to place constitutional amendments on the ballot. Two petition gatherers were arrested in Santa Rosa County for over 40 counts each of uttering a forged document. Several other elections supervisors found petitions signed with the names of dead voters. The Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) issued a press release in October of 2004 indicating that it had received numerous complaints relating to voting irregularities and had initiated several investigations. Specifically, the FDLE created regional elections task forces to address the issue of voter fraud in a statewide manner. While the FDLE did not reveal details of the investigations, it noted that the investigations focused on the following conduct:

In some cases, persons who believed they were signing petitions later found out that their signatures or possible forged signatures were used to complete a fraudulent voter registration. In other instances, it appears that workers hired to obtain legitimate voter registrations filled in the information on the registration forms that should have been completed by the registrants. On several occasions, workers appear to have signed multiple voter registrations themselves using information obtained during the registration drive. In many of the situations complained about, the workers were being paid on the basis of each registration form submitted.

Fla. S. Comm. on Judiciary, CS/SB 900 (2007) Staff Analysis (April 18, 2007). Senate Bill 900 was identical, except for a 120-day revocation period, to the provisions added via floor amendment to the bill that was passed as Chapter 2007-30, Laws of Florida. Fla. CS for HB 537, § 25 (2007).

3

The Revocation Provisions were added by a Senate floor amendment on April 27, 2007. Fla. S. Jour. 650 (Reg. Sess. 2007).

The Signature Revocation Provisions

Facing these reports of fraud and other related problems in the signature gathering process, the Florida Legislature amended section 100.371, Florida Statutes,² to allow electors to exercise the right to revoke their signatures on constitutional amendment initiative petitions. Ch. 2007-30, § 25, Laws of Fla. New subsection 100.371(6) created procedures and a system by which electors may revoke their signatures by signing an approved petition revocation form³ and submitting it to the appropriate supervisor of elections within 150 days of signing the relevant initiative petition. § 100.371(6)(a), Fla. Stat. (2007). Supervisors of elections provide the approved revocation forms to the public. § 100.371(6)(c), Fla. Stat. (2007).

The Division of Elections promulgated two administrative rules to implement the amended statute. Rule 1S-2.0091, which was identical to and

² Section 100.371 generally sets forth the procedures by which citizens may exercise their power to amend the Florida Constitution via initiative petitions.

³ Under the 2007 legislation, the revocation process must reflect the "same relevant requirements and timeframes as the corresponding" initiative process. § 100.371(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (2007). For this reason, a revocation sponsor must propose a revocation form to be certified by the Secretary of State, pay a fee of ten cents for the verification of each revocation signature, and file verified revocation signatures with the supervisors of elections by February 1 of the year that the amendment is sought to be placed on the ballot. § 100.371(6)(d), Fla. Stat. (2007). As of July 1, 2008, those seeking to revoke their signatures individually may do so on a standard revocation form. *See* Ch. 2008-95, § 14, Laws of Fla.

replaced the Division of Elections' emergency rule 1SER07-1 on October 15, 2007, sets forth details about the revocation process.⁴ Rule 1S-2.0095, which replaced and was identical to emergency rule 1SER07-2, became effective on October 15, 2007 and sets forth how revocation signatures are collected.⁵

The Parties

Appellees, Florida Hometown Democracy, Inc. PAC and Lesley G. Blackner (collectively "FHD"), are the proponents of a proposed amendment entitled "Referenda Required for Adoption and Amendment of Local Government Comprehensive Use Plans." The Secretary of State approved their initiative

_

⁴ Signatures on initiative petitions cannot be verified if the signers previously signed and subsequently revoked their signatures from the proposed amendment. Fla. Admin. Code R. 1S-2.0091(2)(a)(2.); *see also* Fla. Admin. Code R. 1S-2.0095(13). The number of verified revocations recorded by February 1 are deducted from the number of verified signatures in support of the proposed amendment to determine whether an initiative amendment has enough support to gain a position on the ballot. Fla. Admin. Code R. 1S-2.0091(4)(b).

⁵ Groups sponsoring the revocation must register as a political committee and the Division of Elections must approve their revocation form. Fla. Admin. Code R. 1S-2.0095(1). All signed revocation forms are returned to the revocation sponsor, and the group submits these forms to the appropriate supervisor of elections. Fla. Admin. Code R. 1S-2.0095(8). The revocation signatures are verified by the supervisors of elections subject to similar conditions as initiative signatures. Fla. Admin. Code R. 1S-2.0095(9). Signed revocation forms must be verified and filed no later than February 1. Fla. Admin. Code R. 1S-2.0095(11). The sponsoring political committee provides the revocation forms to the public at local supervisors of elections' offices. Fla. Admin. Code R. 1S-2.0095(12).

petition form [R2 183]⁶ and this Court reviewed the amendment language, concluding that it complied with the single subject rule and the statutory requirements for ballot titles and summaries. <u>Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re:</u>

Referenda Required for Adoption & Amendment of Local Gov't Comprehensive

Land Use Plans, 938 So. 2d 501, 501 (Fla. 2006).⁷ The proposed amendment cannot attain placement on the 2008 ballot, however, because FHD failed to file the required number of verified signatures⁸ by the constitutionally-imposed deadline of February 1, 2008.⁹

Pursuant to the Revocation Provisions, Save Our Constitution, Inc. ("SOCI") registered as a non-profit corporation with the Department of State in July 2007.

_

⁶ Record citations are [R# *] where # is volume number and * is page number.

⁷ The Court has since held that the proposed financial impact statement drafted by the Financial Impact Estimating Conference was misleading. <u>Advisory Op. to the Att'y Gen. re: Referenda Required for Adoption & Amendment of Local Gov't Comprehensive Land Use Plans</u>, 963 So. 2d 210, 214-15 (Fla. 2007). A redrafted statement was submitted and this Court heard oral argument in Case Number SC06-521 as to whether it is acceptable on May 6, 2008.

⁸ For 2008, the total number of required signatures statewide was 611,009. *See* Fla. Dep't of State, Div. of Elections, Initiative Petition Process: Cong. Dist. Requirements, *available at* http://election.dos.state.fl.us/initiatives/congres.shtml (last visited July 25, 2008).

⁹ See Unofficial verified total signatures for FHD amendment, Fla. Dep't of State, Div. of Elections, available at http://election.dos.state.fl.us/initiatives/initdetail.-asp?account=37681&seqnum=2 (last visited May 16, 2008) (reflecting 594,096 signatures verified before taking revocations into account).

[R2 186] SOCI registered to sponsor a revocation effort against FHD's proposed amendment. [R2 161] Following the approval of its revocation petition by the Division of Elections in August 2007, SOCI began circulating the revocation form. [R2 161]

FHD's Constitutional Challenge & the Trial Court's Order

On August 22, 2007, FHD filed a complaint in Leon County circuit court for a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief to prevent the enforcement of the Revocation Provisions. [R1 1-68] FHD asserted that the Revocation Provisions violated article XI, section 3 of the Florida Constitution, as well as the due process and equal protection provisions of the federal and state constitutions. The parties agreed to file cross-motions for summary judgment, and SOCI joined the State's motion as an intervenor. [R1 81-106; 135-59; 160-63]

Following an October 24, 2007 hearing, the trial court entered summary final judgment on November 27, 2007 in favor of the State and SOCI on all three counts. [R2 221-230; Tab A2] The trial court ruled that the Revocation Provisions do not violate the Florida Constitution, nor do they result in due process or equal protection violations. [R2 221-22]

First, the trial court held that article XI, section 3 of the Florida Constitution was not violated, stating:

The Revocation Provisions do not place any additional requirement or burden on the elector who intends to sign a petition, or to vote on the initiative once it is placed on the ballot. The Revocation Provisions do in fact grant the elector more power over his signature and decision to support the placement of an initiative on the ballot. The Provisions do not change or add to the requirements set forth in Article XI, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution. Furthermore, the Revocation Provisions do not in any way strengthen the power of the Legislature vis-à-vis the people.

[R2 225-26] Thus, the trial court held that allowing voters to revoke their signatures under the Revocation Provisions is not unconstitutional. [R2 226]

The trial court also held that the Revocation Provisions do not violate equal protection rights under the federal and state constitutions. Applying the rational basis test, the court reasoned that "[t]he state has a legitimate interest in ensuring that the petition process evidences the will of the people," and concluded that signature revocation is rationally related to that interest. [R2 227]

Lastly, the trial court ruled in the State's favor on FHD's due process claims under the federal and state constitutions. The court explained that the requisite signatures for FHD's initiative to be placed on the ballot had not yet been obtained and filed, and as such "no valid right to be on the ballot has ripened" for purposes of a due process claim. [R2 228] Instead, "[t]he only right that Plaintiffs will have is the right guaranteed by Article XI, Section 3, to have the measure placed on the ballot for consideration once the requirements have been met." [R2 228] The court concluded that the application of the Revocation Provisions does not infringe on any right protected by due process. Moreover, because revocations are effective

when made and do not invalidate signatures nunc pro tunc, there was no retroactivity problem for due process purposes. [R2 229]

The First District's Decision

FHD appealed the trial court's decision. [R2 229]¹⁰ Oral argument in the case was held on March 31, 2008. On April 23, 2008, the First District reversed, holding that the Revocation Provisions are impermissible regulations on the citizen initiative process that violate article XI, section 3, because they are not necessary to ensure ballot integrity. Fla. Hometown Democracy, Inc., 980 So. 2d at 548. The First District relied on two of this Court's ballot integrity decisions, and concluded that the Revocation Provisions were not necessary for ballot integrity because they "do not serve to confirm compliance with constitutionally-specified requirements for submission of proposed amendments through the initiative process" and they "burden the initiative process with requirements that are not prescribed by the constitution." Id. at 550. The State timely appealed the First District's decision, and this Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

¹⁰ The First District denied FHD's request for certification to this Court, but agreed to expedite briefing. [1D07-6024, Dec. 10, 2007 orders]

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Due to concerns about fraud and other irregularities at the signature gathering stage, the legislature acted to protect voters by empowering them to revoke their own signatures on initiative petitions. The power to revoke promotes the purpose of article XI, section 3, and protects ballot integrity, by ensuring that only those initiatives truly achieving the requisite level and breadth of voter support appear on the ballot. As this Court has held, "reasonable regulations on the right to vote and on the petition process are necessary to ensure ballot integrity and a valid election process." Krivanek v. Take Back Tampa Political Comm., 625 So. 2d 840, 843 (Fla. 1993). The Revocation Provisions are reasonable regulations on the initiative signature gathering process that prevent and remedy fraud, which can undermine the electorate's confidence in the election process.

The Revocation Provisions, like both the signature verification provisions this Court upheld in <u>State ex rel. Citizens Proposition for Tax Relief v. Firestone</u>, 386 So. 2d 561, 566 (Fla. 1980), and the exclusion of petition signatures of electors removed from voter rolls upheld in <u>Krivanek</u>, are reasonable regulations that are necessary to ensure ballot integrity and a valid election process. The provisions effectuate the political power of the people under article I, section 1 and article XI, section 3, by ensuring that the will of the electorate is reflected in the signature-gathering process, and certain types of fraud and other potential irregularities

occurring in the signature gathering process can be rectified during the limited 150-day statutory revocation period. As the trial court recognized, this signature revocation right protects the integrity of the initiative process and the power of the citizens *without* strengthening the power of the legislature.

Here, the First District erred by reading article XI, section 3 in a way that renders the legislature unable to empower voters or rectify fraud in the signature gathering process. It fails to mention or apply the principles of this Court's important ballot integrity case, Krivanek. Its holding deprives voters of the ability to effectuate their own political power via signature revocation (a right they arguably already have as part of their inherent political powers). The court also placed emphasis on the lack of an explicit signature revocation right in the constitution, overlooking that this Court upheld the signature verification law in Firestone on ballot integrity principles even though signature verification is not explicitly authorized in the constitution.

In summary, the Revocation Provisions, like signature verification provisions, are reasonable regulations on the petition process that ensure ballot integrity and a valid election process. They empower voters without increasing the legislature's power. The First District's narrow construction of article XI, section 3 should be reversed, and the revocation right upheld.

ARGUMENT¹¹

I. The Revocation Provisions Do Not Violate Article XI, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution.

A. The legislature and Secretary must ensure ballot integrity and a valid election process for citizen initiatives.

The Florida Constitution provides the only methods for its own amendment and revision, each of which requires an affirmative vote of the electorate. Among those methods is the right reserved to the people to amend their constitution by initiative. Art. XI, § 3, Fla. Const. This power is invoked by obtaining a sufficient number of valid voter signatures on petitions in support of the proposed amendment. This sufficient number must come from at least half of the state's congressional districts, and equal "eight percent of the votes cast in each of such districts respectively and in the state as a whole in the last preceding election in which presidential electors were chosen." Id. The constitution is then amended if the initiative is approved by a vote of at least sixty percent of the electorate voting on the measure at the next general election. Art. XI, § 5(e), Fla. Const.

_

¹¹ **Standard of Review:** A statute's constitutionality is a legal question, and accordingly is reviewed de novo. <u>Zingale v. Powell</u>, 885 So. 2d 277, 280 (Fla. 2004). "When a court has declared a state statute unconstitutional, the reviewing court must begin the process with a presumption that the statute is valid." <u>St. Vincent's Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Mem'l Healthcare Group</u>, 967 So. 2d 794, 799 (Fla. 2007). Doubts as to a statute's validity are resolved in favor of its constitutionality. <u>Dep't of Legal Affairs v. Rogers</u>, 329 So. 2d 257, 263 (Fla. 1976).

As this Court has emphasized, the methods for amending the Florida Constitution are "delicately balanced." State ex rel. Citizens Proposition for Tax Relief v. Firestone, 386 So. 2d 561, 566 (Fla. 1980). The people's power to amend is given substantial protection under the Florida Constitution and this Court's precedents. Article XI, section 3 is a self-executing provision and the legislature has only "limited authority" to regulate the initiative process. Smith v. Coal. to Reduce Class Size, 827 So. 2d 959, 962 (Fla. 2002). The delicate balance struck by the Florida Constitution, however, does not prohibit the legislature from protecting the integrity of the initiative process and ensuring a valid election process:

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