IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC08-884

KURT S. BROWNING in his capacity as the SECRETARY OF STATE and head of the DEPARTMENT OF STATE; STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF STATE, DIVISION OF ELECTIONS; and SAVE OUR CONSTITUTION, INC.,

Appellants,

v.

FLORIDA HOMETOWN DEMOCRACY PAC, INC., and LESLEY G. BLACKNER,

Appellees.

ANSWER BRIEF
OF APPELLEES
FLORIDA HOMETOWN DEMOCRACY, PAC INC.
and LESLEY G. BLACKNER
TO APPELLANTS' BRIEF

Ross Stafford Burnaman
Attorney at Law
Fla. Bar No. 397784
1018 Holland Drive
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
(850) 942-1474
Counsel for Appellees

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court correctly determined that the signature revocation law and rules are not necessary for ballot integrity under <u>Smith v. Coalition to Reduce Class Size</u>, 827 So.2d 959, 962 (Fla. 2002), and <u>State ex rel. Citizens Proposition for Tax Relief v. Firestone</u>, 386 So.2d 561, 566 (Fla. 1980).

The plain meaning of the citizen initiative, which is clear, unambiguous and fully addresses the subject of a "petition containing a copy of the proposed revision or amendment," does not imply the legality of a petition revocation scheme.

Even if an inquiry into the Legislative intent for the ballot revocation process were relevant, there is no factual predicate to establish the necessity of the scheme. The Legislative history of various bills cited in the Appellants' Brief is not properly before the Court.

Moreover, the items cited in the referenced Staff Analyses are inconclusive and unreliable to establish fraud in the citizen initiative process.

The revocation statute and rules are not reasonable measures to ensure ballot integrity. Revocation is only available to persons who have signed a citizen initiative that is the subject of a paid political campaign waged by a

political action committee opposed to the proposed initiative.

Additional collection of petitions and verification of revocation petitions by Supervisors of Elections actually increases the potential for fraud or mistake based upon an aggressive revocation political campaign.

Browning concedes the FHD may have to collect more signatures to quality for the ballot based upon revocations, but rejects the District Court's conclusion of an additional burden to FHD. Instead of promoting a valid initiative process, the revocation statute and rules violate FHD's vested rights in verified petitions that it has collected and paid to have verified in reliance of obtaining an advisory opinion and qualifying for the ballot.

This Court should affirm the District Court of Appeal's decision below.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The standard of review is de novo.

Zingale v. Powell, 885 So.2d 277, 280 (Fla. 2004). In considering any legislative act or administrative rule which concerns the initiative amending process, we must be careful that the legislative statute or implementing rule is necessary for ballot integrity since any restriction on the initiative process would strengthen the authority and power of the legislature and weaken the power of the initiative process. Smith v. Coalition to Reduce Class Size, 827 So.2d 959, 962 (Fla. 2002).

I. SIGNATURE REVOCATION IS NOT NECESSARY FOR BALLOT INTEGRITY.

Browning correctly cites to <u>Smith v. Coalition to</u>

Reduce Class Size, 827 So.2d 959, 962 (Fla. 2002) and <u>State</u>

ex rel. Citizens Proposition for Tax Relief v. Firestone,

386 So.2d 561, 566 (Fla. 1980) to summarize the requirement

that legislation regarding the citizen initiative process

be "necessary for ballot integrity." In fact, the First

District Court of Appeal cited only to those two cases in

its opinion in the case at bar for guidance as to the

meaning of the phrase "ballot integrity."

The District Court properly determined that the

Revocation Law and Rules "do not ensure ballot integrity."

Instead, the District court properly found that the

Revocation Law and Rules "serve to burden the initiative process with requirements that are not prescribed by the constitution..."

A. THE PLAIN MEANING AND INTERRELATIONSHIP OF CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISINGS REGARDING CIITZEN INITIATIVES PROHIBIT THE STATUTE AND RULES.

To the point, the District Court of Appeal's opinion below provides in part: "Indeed, signature revocation is not even referenced in the citizen initiative provisions of the Constitution." [Brief, Appendix A, page 6].

The plain meaning of the citizen initiative provision does not permit signature revocation. Article XI, section 3 of the Florida Constitution. One operative phrase provides:

It may be invoked by filing with the custodian of state records a petition containing a copy of the proposed revision or amendment, signed by a number of electors....

Notably absent is any mention of a "revocation petition" or the number of electors "who signed and did not timely revoke" petitions filed with the Secretary of State. The Constitutional language is clear, unambiguous and fully addresses the matter at issue - citizen initiative signatures, and as such warrants that this Court affirm the opinion below. See, Coastal Florida Police Benevolent
Assoc. v. Williams, 838 So.2d 543, 548-550 (Fla.
2003)(inquiry into interpretation of Constitution begins with explicit language).

The cases cited by Browning regarding deference owed to the Legislature are inapposite. [Brief, pages 12, 21-22. Instead, Smith v. Coalition to Reduce Class Size, 827 So.2d 959, 962 (Fla. 2002) provides the standard of review. Consistent with the plain meaning, and requirement that any legislation or rule affecting the citizen initiative be necessary for ballot integrity, this Court should reject any implication that Legislature has authority to engraft a revocation scheme onto the process. See, Advisory Op. to the Governor, 22 So.2d 398, 399 (Fla. 1945)("when the Constitution prescribes the method of doing a thing, it impliedly prohibits legislation prescribing a different manner of doing it").

The other Constitutional provisions calling for the

Attorney General to petition this Court to issue an

advisory opinion on citizen initiatives are not benefited

by the uncertainty created revocation of petitions that

would trigger such proceedings. Art. V, section 3(10) and Art. IV, section 10, Fla. Const. Indeed, this Court's rules of Appellate Procedure governing such advisory opinion proceedings do not recognize a signature revocation process, but instead refer to the "signature-collection process." Fla. R. App. P. 9.510(b)(4).

The opinion below should be affirmed.

B. THERE IS NO FACTUAL PREDICATE FOR FINDING THAT THE SIGNATURE REVOCATION LAW AND RULES ARE INTENDED TO PREVENT FRAUD OR OTHER IRREGULARITIES.

Based upon the foregoing Point I.A, any analysis of a Legislative predicate for enacting the revocation process as necessary for ballot integrity is unnecessary. See,

Coastal Florida Police Benevolent Assoc. v. Williams, 838

So.2d at 550.

However, even assuming for the sake of argument that the Legislative intent were relevant to the case at bar, the facts of record do not bear out the need for the revocation statute and rules.

Browning's Statement of the Case and Facts, and
Argument repeatedly stresses the Legislature's purported
reason to enact the revocation law and rules "due to
concerns about fraud and other irregularities at the

signature gathering stage...." [Brief, pages 2-4, 10, 13-14, 19-21, 25, 29].

The record developed at the trial court is devoid of any affidavit, evidence or other matter contemplated by Rule 1.510, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, that the Legislature enacted the Revocation Law and Rules to prevent fraud.

Neither the trial court, nor the District Court of

Appeal took judicial notice of any materials related to

Legislative intent, as permitted by Sections 90.201, 90.202

and 90.204, Florida Statutes.

Browning's brief contains purported references to selected Legislative materials that were never presented to trial court or the District Court of Appeal. It is not appropriate for Browning to inject these references for the first time before this Court. See, Thornber v. City of Ft. Walton Beach, 534 So.2d 754, 755 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988)(appeal not an evidentiary proceeding). Browning has not provided FHD/Blackner with any fair opportunity to ensure that the matters argued are susceptible of being judicially noticed in accordance with Sections 90-201 through 90.207, Florida Statutes and constitute an accurate and complete Legislative history. See, §90.204(1), Fla. Stat.

Browning's brief contains an extensive quotation purportedly from an April 18, 2007, Senate staff analysis of CS/SB 900, relating to newspaper stories "concerning fraud" and a Florida Department of Law Enforcement October 2004 Press Release¹ about numerous complaints related to voting irregularities. The two newspaper stories allegedly reported the arrest² of two petition gatherers in Santa Rosa County and "several other elections supervisors who found petitions with the names of dead voters³." [Brief, page 3].

Typically, Courts rely upon the plain meaning of Constitutional or statutory terms to discern intent. See,

Coastal Florida Police Benevolent Assoc. v. Williams, 838

So.2d 543, 548-550 (Fla. 2003). However, when faced with an irreconcilable ambiguity, this Court has resorted to consideration of Legislative staff analyses to help discern Legislative intent. See, American Home Assurance Co. v.

Plaza Materials Corp., 908 So.2d 360, 368-370 (Fla. 2005)

¹ On its face, the press release focused on conduct related to voter registration forms, not citizen initiative forms.

² Apparently the presumption of innocence does not apply when the Legislative staff reads news reports of alleged arrests.

³ Even assuming that the Supervisors of Elections failed to cull out the petitions purported signed by deceased persons or by persons who died after signing the petitions during the verification process, a deceased person cannot sign a signature revocation form.

(discussing use of Legislative staff analyses for legislative history).

A court may take judicial notice of materials discovered through its own independent research on its own motion. Id. and §90.202, Fla. Stat.

When a court takes judicial notice on its own motion, it must afford each party a reasonable opportunity to present information relevant to the propriety of taking judicial notice and to the nature of the matter noticed. §90.204, Fla. Stat. The failure of either the trial court, or the First District Court of Appeal to take judicial notice of the non-record Legislative materials does not preclude this Court from taking judicial notice. §90.207, Fla. Stat.

The First District Court of Appeal has questioned the wisdom of taking judicial notice of Legislative staff analyses on appeal. See, Ellsworth v. Insurance Co. of N. America, 508 So.2d 395, 398 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); Department of Health & Rehabilitative Srvcs. V. Shatto, 487 So.2d 1152, 1153-54 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

There is no basis to conclude that an analysis of the legislative history of the revocation law is necessary to review the District Court's opinion. Moreover, there is no

record foundation for finding that the revocation law and rules were meant to prevent fraud or other irregularities.

C. THE SIGNATURE REVOCATION LAW AND RULES ARE NOT REASONABLE REGULATIONS TO ENSURE BALLOT INTEGRITY.

Without waiver of the argument that any Legislative predicate for the revocation law and rules was based upon prevention of fraud or other (unspecified) irregularities in the citizen initiative process, FHD/Blackner assert that the enactments are not reasonable regulations to necessary to ensure ballot integrity.

In discussing the "necessary for ballot integrity" standard in the context of 2002 legislation to require a fiscal impact statement, this Court observed: "this initiative process has already produced a constitutional amendment which was adopted without benefit of the subject statute or rule." Smith v. Coalition to Reduce Class Size, 827 So.2d at 962, citing Art. II, section 8 (Ethics in Government). Since that case was decided in 2002, additional citizens initiatives have been enacted by voters without the revocation process. E.g., Art. X, §19 (repealed); Art. X, §§ 23, 24, 25, and 26.

In 2004, Florida voters enacted Amendment Number Four, the validity of which was considered by a circuit court, and on appeal. Browning cites one of those opinions --

Floridians Against Expanded Gambling v. Floridians for a

Level Playing Field, 945 So.2d 553, 557 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006)

-- to stand for the proposition:

Investigation revealed thousands of initiative petitions were procured by fraud and that one-third of the purported signers who were surveyed reported that their signatures were forged.

[Brief, page 20]. There was no finding of fraud in that case, indeed, the First District Court of Appeal's majority opinion provides in part:

We do not comment of whether Appellants may be able to prove their assertions at trial because it is not before us.

This Court subsequently accepted review of the case, but discharged jurisdiction in a written opinion. Floridians for a Level Playing Field v. Floridians Against Expanded Gambling, 967 So.2d 832 (Fla. 2007). As an alternative basis for such discharge, this Court quoted at length from the Secretary of State's Answer Brief agreeing that it was "sound" to wait "until the specific allegations of fraud are adjudicated" based upon a "fully-developed record with a proven set of facts...." Id. at 835.

That case was decided by the trial court on summary judgment and dismissal of the complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief. Neither the trial court nor the

appellate courts found any facts concerning the <u>alleged</u> fraud, nor was "evidence of fraud ... at issue." [Brief, page 20].

Browning urges this Court to place particular emphasis on a decision not cited by the First District's opinion below. [Brief, pages 10, 11, 14, 15, 18, 29, citing Krivanek v. Take Back Tampa Political Comm., 625 So.2d 840 (Fla. 1993). However, that case is not cited in Smith v. Coalition to Reduce Class Size. Unlike Smith v. Coalition to Reduce Class Size and State ex rel. Citizens Proposition for Tax Relief v. Firestone, which dealt with the citizen initiative process and constitutionality of a State enactment under Article XI, section 3, Krivanek v. Take Back Tampa Political Comm. concerned the propriety of mandamus to require Supervisor of Elections' validation of signatures of purged voters, and this Court determined that it was reasonable to require voters to make a minimal effort to either vote at least once every two years or to notify the Supervisor in writing that their voter registration information had not changed. Id. at 844. The Court deferred to the Division of Elections' view that signing an ordinance recall petition under the City Charter was not an allowable form of written notification. Id.

Krivanek v. Take Back Tampa Political Comm. supports the First District Court of Appeal's opinion below. The process established by the revocation statute and rules mandate that a political action committee use a paid political advertisement to solicit revocations, and that only that committee can submit revocation petitions for verification. Krivanek v. Take Back Tampa Political Comm., distinguished a voter registration "status notification process" by detached, neutral Election Supervisors from political advocacy:

A recall or initiative petition is presented to an elector by an advocate of a particular political view. Such a recall or petition is in not way connected to the status notification process.

Id. at 844. In other words, Supervisors of Elections prevent fraud and the maintain voter registration records as part of ballot integrity and a valid election process.

Instead of establishing a neutral process that allowed for revocation as to all pending citizens' initiatives, the Legislative set up a political process whereby a rival political action committee must be established to circulate a paid political advertisement urging revocation. Voters

⁴ <u>Smith v. Coalition to Reduce Class Size</u> relied primarily upon <u>State ex rel. Citizens Proposition for Tax Relief v.</u> Firestone, 386 So.2d 561 (Fla. 1980).

cannot directly submit signed revocation petitions to their respective Supervisor of Elections, they must be submitted by the political action committee. In addition, a revocation petition once signed cannot be rescinded or revoked and the voter cannot sign the subject initiative again to restore his or her intent. See, 33 F.A.W. 3690 (August 10, 2007) (13) "Irrevocable Effect of Revocation."

The trial court record demonstrated that although there are other active citizen initiative petitions being circulated, only FHD has been targeted for revocation.

Accordingly, due to politics, signatories of non-targeted petitions do not benefit from the purported "anti-fraud" and right to equivocate benefits of the revocation statute and rules.

Instead of preventing fraud or misleading of voters, the Revocation Law and Rules enable fraud and misinformation by establishing a political process. The Affidavit of Blackner and her exhibits clearly show that at least one voter was tricked by the SOCI revocation telemarketing and letter and only realized it after reading Steve Bousquet's St. Petersburg Times article published on September 15, 2007 (Finally, Something Scares Big Business)[R. I 116-117]:

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